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From: Turnover Survey
Sent: Thursday, 20 June 2024 11:53 AM
To:
Subject: FW: ANZ - AOFM Turnover Survey - Data Confirmation [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments:

As requested 
 

From: Turnover Survey <Turnover@AOFM.GOV.AU>  
Sent: Wednesday, August 2, 2023 2:25 PM 
To:  @anz.com'  @anz.com>; @anz.com'  @anz.com> 
Cc:  @anz.com>; 'ratesfosupport@anz.com' <ratesfosupport@anz.com>; 
'Indiafosupport@anz.com' <Indiafosupport@anz.com>; 'GlobalMarketsFosBlr@anz.com' 
<GlobalMarketsFosBlr@anz.com>; Turnover Survey <Turnover@AOFM.GOV.AU> 
Subject: ANZ ‐ AOFM Turnover Survey ‐ Data Confirmation [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 
 

Hi,  

The AOFM has received your institution’s monthly Australian Government Securities turnover data for the 2022‐23 
financial year. Before we provide reporting on this data, we need to ensure its accuracy. 

Attached is a spreadsheet containing the aggregated data from your responses. Please review the attachment and 
confirm its accuracy by reply email. Your response is required by COB Wednesday, 09 August 2023. 

If you identify issues, please provide replacement data for the applicable month(s).  

Please contact me if you have any questions.  

 

Cheers 

 
Funding, Strategy & Research 
Australian Office of Financial Management 
T @aofm.gov.au | aofm.gov.au 
 

 
 

 

OFFICIAL 
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From:
Sent: Thursday, 20 June 2024 11:07 AM
To:
Subject: FW: ANZ monthly turnover revisions [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: RE: ANZ - AOFM Turnover Survey - Data Confirmation [SEC=OFFICIAL]; RE: ANZ - AOFM 

Turnover Survey - Data Confirmation [SEC=OFFICIAL]

Hey   
 
Apologies delay. Problem our end had this email blocked yesterday. 
 
Please let me know of you require any thing else from me. 
 
Cheers 
 
 

From:    
Sent: Wednesday, June 19, 2024 11:57 AM 
To:  @asic.gov.au> 
Subject: RE: ANZ monthly turnover revisions [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 
 
Hi 
 
Emails aƩached as requested. 
 
Cheers 
 

OFFICIAL 

From:  @asic.gov.au>  
Sent: Wednesday, June 12, 2024 4:47 PM 
To:  @aofm.gov.au> 
Cc:  @asic.gov.au> 
Subject: ANZ monthly turnover revisions [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
AŌernoon  
Would AOFM be willing to share the correspondence that it received from ANZ, and AOFMs responses, in regards to 
the revision to ANZs trading turnover in about Aug 2023? Im assuming that it would have included emails, revised 
reports and perhaps conference calls/meeƟngs where notes may have been taken or the meeƟng recorded.  
Im content if you discuss this with relevant persons at AOFM before responding.  
 
Regards 

Please consider the environment before printing this document. 

s 22

s 22

s 22

s 
22

s 22

s 22

s 22

s 22

s 22
s 22

s 22

s 22

UTD
Text Box
FOI 3682 - Document 3



2

Information collected by ASIC may contain personal information. Please refer to our Privacy Policy for information 
about how we handle your personal information, your rights to seek access to and correct your personal information, 
and how to complain about breaches of your privacy by ASIC. 

This e‐mail and any attachments are intended for the addressee(s) only and may be confidential. They may contain 
legally privileged, copyright material or personal and /or confidential information. You should not read, copy, use or 
disclose the content without authorisation. If you have received this email in error, please notify the sender as soon 
as possible, delete the email and destroy any copies. This notice should not be removed. 

 

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
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The main features of the AGS market that 
support and significantly add to liquidity include 
the following:

•	 The size of the bond market and the individual 
bond lines.

•	 The size and diversity of the investor base.

•	 The number and quality of price makers.

See Investor Insights Issue 5 – Liquidity of the 
Treasury Bond Market, for an in-depth look at 
AGS liquidity.

In 2021–22, 19 price makers provided secondary 
market turnover data.1Respondents provide 
aggregate monthly data on their sales and 
purchases of each bond line. The information 
includes the volume of trades, the number, and 
the counterparty category. The AOFM publishes 
gross turnover data quarterly, grouped by tenor 
and category.2 Treasury Notes turnover is also 
surveyed but is not published as the secondary 
market for Treasury Notes is much smaller.

1	� A list of active market makers for Treasury Bonds is 
provided on the AOFM website www.aofm.gov.au/
securities/treasury-bonds

2	 The survey results are published in the ‘Data  
Hub’ under ‘AGS Secondary Market Turnover’ 
www.aofm.gov.au/data-hub

KEY BENEFITS 
OF THE SURVEY
•	 Good measure of trends in overall liquidity 

in the AGS secondary market.

•	 Comprehensive coverage of secondary 
market turnover. 

•	 Allows the AOFM and the market to assess 
and monitor trends in turnover by:

	- Security type (Treasury Bonds, 
Treasury Indexed Bonds)

	- Tenor / line

	- Categories and regions 

	- Time periods

•	 Allows the AOFM to assess market makers’ 
ability to distribute bonds to end investors. 

•	 Assists the AOFM with its investor 
engagement activities. 

A report is provided to survey respondents on 
their secondary market activity and their activity 
relative to other market makers.
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TRENDS IN SECONDARY 
MARKET TURNOVER
A significant benefit of the survey for the AOFM is 
the ability to monitor turnover trends and better 
understand how market conditions and dynamics 
can influence turnover and liquidity.

Chart 1 shows the monthly secondary market 
turnover for Treasury Bonds and Treasury 
Indexed Bonds since July 2019. Secondary market 
turnover for Treasury Bonds is much higher than 
for Treasury Indexed Bonds – this reflects the 
much larger market for Treasury Bonds, a more 
extensive and diverse investor base, and a greater 
number of active price makers.

Chart 1. Australian Government Bonds monthly turnover 

Source: AOFM. The AOFM relies on data provided by survey respondents and cannot guarantee the accuracy of this data.

The most recent monthly turnover update for 
the September 2022 quarter shows that monthly 
turnover has trended lower over the last year. 
After reaching record-high levels in early 2021 
(spurred by high rates of AOFM issuance and 
turnover created by the RBA’s bond purchase 
operations), secondary market turnover in 
Treasury Bonds fell steadily for the first time 
since the AOFM began collecting data.  
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TURNOVER BY 
MATURITY TENORS
The AOFM publishes turnover data by tenor 
groupings. Treasury Bonds with tenors 
between 2-5 years and 9-12 years exhibit 
the highest turnover volumes – these 
bonds underly the liquid 3-year and 10-year 
Treasury Bond futures contracts.

Since July 2021, AOFM has also collected 
turnover data for individual bond lines, providing 
more granular detail. Chart 3 shows turnover 
by bond line, excluding interbank and RBA. 
Separating interbank and RBA turnover gives  
a clearer picture of investor activity.

Chart 2. Turnover by tenor groups

Source: AOFM.

There are clear maximums around 3-year and 
10-year basket bonds. In addition, average trade 
sizes are also much larger for these bonds – this 
reflects the ease of trading these bonds in larger 
sizes for investors and market makers. Lastly, 
Chart 3 also shows that for the period the majority 
of turnover (excluding RBA and interbank) was 
with offshore counterparties (blue bars). 
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Chart 3: Turnover by bond line, excluding interbank and RBA (July 2021 to September 2022)

Source: AOFM. Note the Nov-33 bond line only had two available quarters of data.

Notably, the longest bond, the June-51, had the 
highest proportion of offshore turnover (86%). 
The following section examines the turnover 
categories in more detail.
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TURNOVER BY 
COUNTERPARTY
Market makers provide turnover for specific 
domestic and offshore categories. The domestic 
categories include interbank (trades between 
market makers), bank balance sheets, other 
domestic (primarily fund managers, insurance, 
and superannuation funds), and the RBA 
(since March 2020). Turnover with the RBA was 
captured in the ‘Other domestic’ category before 
March 2020. The offshore category is segmented 
by region rather than specific investor types. 
It includes Asia (ex-Japan), the UK, Europe, 
the Americas, Japan, and other international 
investors not in those geographies.

Chart 4 shows that interbank turnover is usually 
the highest domestic turnover category.3 High 
interbank turnover is a good indicator of overall 
liquidity as it demonstrates that market makers 
have the confidence to short bond lines or to take 
long positions.

3	 For reporting total turnover, interbank turnover 
is halved to avoid double counting.

Chart 4. Gross turnover by category

Source: AOFM

Asia ex-Japan has consistently had the highest 
turnover for offshore turnover by region. AOFM’s 
extensive knowledge of the Asian investor base 
is that turnover is broad-based and comprises 
large numbers of official money investors, asset 
managers, and hedge funds. The UK, Europe, the 
Americas, and Japan are also significant regions. 
The data shows that around 70% of turnover for 
the period was transacted with offshore investors. 
This accords closely with non-resident holdings as 
a proportion of the free float of Treasury Bonds on 
issue, which is around the same level. 

Chart 5 demonstrates that purchases and sales 
are relatively balanced across each category. 
However, there are times when certain investor 
types or regions may be selling more bonds than 
buying. For example, domestic bank balance 
sheets in 2021–22 reduced their overall holdings 
of AGS as their deposits with the RBA (exchange 
settlement balances) increased. Having a diverse 
and wide-ranging set of investors minimises the 
risk that all investor groups will respond to market 
conditions similarly.
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Chart 5. Net investor turnover by category

Source: AOFM. *Purchases and sales from an investor point of view

INDICATORS OF 
MARKET HEALTH
The turnover survey provides the AOFM with a 
good gauge of the market’s overall health aside 
from just the level of secondary market turnover. 
A feature of the Treasury Bond market is the large 
number of intermediaries that participate in both 
the primary and secondary markets. Participation 
by individual banks varies over time in both the 
secondary and primary markets, but no one bank 
dominates turnover in all regions. Each year the 
AOFM sends each bank a report comparing their 
secondary and primary market activity relative to 
other market makers. This provides banks with 
valuable feedback on their performance.

Chart 6 shows that the Treasury Bond turnover 
market share has been relatively constant over 
the last three years. The top three banks average 
just over 40% of turnover and, the top 10 around 
90%. Even outside the top 10 banks, there is still 
a consistent activity level. Of the top five banks by 
turnover in 2019–20, only three were still in the 
top five in 2021–22.



AOFM INVESTOR INSIGHTS Issue 11 | December 2022 8

Chart 6. Proportion of Treasury Bond turnover by top banks  

Source: AOFM, excludes trades with RBA.

SUPPORT FOR INVESTOR 
ENGAGEMENT
The turnover survey also assists the AOFM in its 
investor engagement activities. While it does not 
provide direct information on individual investor 
activity, it offers valuable trends in understanding 
investor activity by region. The level of turnover by 
price makers in different regions can be a factor in 
determining which banks could arrange investor 
meetings in certain areas. Lastly, the ability to 
distribute bonds to end investors is one of several 
considerations in determining the composition of 
dealer panels for syndicated issues.

SUMMARY
Secondary market turnover is an important 
demonstration of the continuing deep and liquid 
AGS market. It is a valuable indication of ongoing 
or changing trends in liquidity and composition 
within this market. The design and successful 
implementation of the survey was a significant 
achievement for the AOFM and the participating 
market makers, which has had long-term benefits. 
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